I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Sterling Savings Bank ("Sterling") asks this Court to 

accept review of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision terminating 

review designated in Section II of this petition. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Sterling seeks review of a decision from Division I of the Court of 

Appeals affirming the denial of an offset to prevent a double recovery by 

Respondent Parkridge LLC ("Parkridge"). A copy of the Court of Appeals 

decision is attached hereto as Appendix A, pages 1 through 12. 

III. SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR REVIEW 

Both Sterling and Parkridge were defrauded by Stanley Xu and 

Nanling Chen (collectively, "the Xus"). The Xus' fraud was facilitated by 

a letter written by the Xus' attorney. Parkridge was made whole by a 

decision from the trial court that awarded it damages against Sterling. 

Parkridge, however, had already received a $1 million malpractice 

settlement from the Xus' attorney for her role in fraudulent transaction. 

When Sterling was ordered to pay to make Parkridge whole, it asked 

that its obligation be offset by the $1 million malpractice payment already 

received by Parkridge. The trial court refused, concluding that Sterling had 

not proven that the $1 million payment was not also related to disputes other 

than the fraudulent transaction. Because the record was devoid of any 
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evidence that the malpractice payment had anything to do with disputes 

outside the fraud, the trial court essentially required Sterling to prove a 

negative, i.e., Sterling had to prove that there were no other claims also 

settled by the attorney's payment of $1 million. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed. As a result, Parkridge received a windfall recovery. 

This aspect of the Court of Appeal's decision should be reviewed 

under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it fails to advance Washington's strong 

public policy against double recoveries. Rekhter v. DSHS, 180 Wn.2d 102, 

121, 323 P.3d 1036 (2014) ("Washington courts have consistently 

implemented rules designed to prevent double recoveries."). 

Once Sterling established that the malpractice payment was related 

to the fraud, then the burden should have shifted to Parkridge to show that 

it was also related to other issues before an offset could be denied. Without 

such burden shifting, a party seeking an offset to avoid a plaintiffs double 

recovery must prove a negative. In short, where a party makes a prima facie 

case that a third-party recovery is related to the claim at issue, and the record 

is devoid of any evidence showing that other claims or issues were also 

resolved by that recovery, then an offset should be awarded to enforce 

Washington public policy. 

The Court of Appeals further implied that because the damage 

award against Sterling arose from a challenge to a deed of trust, an offset 
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was not appropriate because "Sterling Bank had no right to the disputed sale 

proceeds." Appendix A, p. 9. This holding permits a winning party in any 

quiet title action to enjoy a double recovery with impunity even if it could 

be demonstrated that it is receiving far more than its actual damages. This 

is not the law. Cummings v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 135, 144-45, 614 P.2d 

1283 (1980) (order quieting title may be made after the payment of certain 

"offsets we have approved"). Review of this specific issue is appropriate 

under either RAP 13 .4(b )(1) or ( 4 ). 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to offset a $1 million 

legal malpractice recovery when it assessed damages against Sterling 

because the Court improperly required Sterling to prove that the malpractice 

recovery was unrelated to claims other than the fraud at issue? 

Answer: Yes. Sterling established that the $1 million malpractice 

recovery obtained by Parkridge was related to the fraud perpetuated by the 

X us against Parkridge and Sterling. Having made a prima facie case of a 

double recovery, Sterling is not also required to prove that there were no 

other claims settled by the $1 million payment. 

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in its alternative holding when 

it concluded that Sterling had no right to the disputed sale proceeds because 

the decision arose out of an action to quiet title? 
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Answer: Yes. The public policy behind preventing a double 

recovery extends to quiet title disputes, and the Court of Appeals' alternate 

holding fails to follow this authority. 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Creation and Ownership of Parkridge. 

CFD-Parkridge, LLC was the owner of a 249-unit apartment 

complex (the "Property"). CP 412 (Fact No. 1). Charles Diesing 

("Diesing") was CFD-Parkridge's only owner. CP 412 (Fact No. 1). 

Diesing was approached by the X us about purchasing the Property. 

To facilitate a sale, the Xus and Diesing agreed to jointly form Parkridge. 

CP 413 (Fact No.4); RP 86-87. 

Diesing formed CFD Funding 1, LLC ("CFD Funding 1 ") to hold his 

interest in Parkridge. CP 414 (Fact No. 6). The Xus formed Longwell 

Parkridge, LLC ("Longwell"), to hold his interest. CP 414 (Fact No. 6). The 

ownership structure, graphically displayed, was as follows: 

Ownership of Property After Sale 

Charles Diesing Stanley Xu and Nanling Chen 1 (I 00% owner) (I 00% owners) ! 
CFD Funding 1, LLC Longwell Parkridge, LLC 

"'-.... (75% owner) (25% owner) / 
~ Parkridge Property LLC / 

J (I 00% owner) 

Property 
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B. Parkridge's LLC Agreement. 

The Limited Liability Company Agreement governing Parkridge 

was negotiated between attorneys Robert deNormandie on behalf of 

Diesing/CFD Funding 1 and Rebecca Wiess on behalf of the Xus/Longwell. 

CP 414 (Fact No.8). 

The LLC Agreement designated Longwell as Parkridge's managing 

member, and CFD Funding 1 as its non-managing member. CP 414 (Fact 

No. 9). Longwell, as the managing member, was given control over 

Parkridge's operations, subject to certain exceptions. CP 414 (Fact No.9). 

One of those exceptions, as set forth in Section 7.5 of the LLC Agreement, 

required Longwell to obtain CFD Funding 1 's written consent before 

refinancing any loans1, or allowing a lien or other encumbrance to be filed 

against the Property. CP 414 (Fact No.9). 

C. The Xus Defraud Sterling. 

The Xus came up with a scheme to pull equity out ofthe Property, 

and approached Sterling in January 20 11 about obtaining an $18 million 

loan for Parkridge, secured by the Property. CP 416 (Fact No. 16). Of that 

sum, $15 million would be used to refinance the GE Capital loan. !d. The 

1 By agreement between Diesing/CFD Funding 1 and Xu/Longwell, Partridge was 
encumbered by a $14.95 million loan to General Electric Capital Corporation ("GE 
Capital"). CP 413 (Fact No. 3). 
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remaining $3 million would be paid directly to the Xus. !d. 

As part of Sterling's loan application process, Stanley Xu signed 

documents in which he falsely represented that he and Chen were 

Parkridge's managing members and sole owners. CP 416 (Fact No. 17). 

As the trial court found, "Sterling wanted to make sure that Parkridge's 

Operating Agreement authorized Xu and Longwell to sign the documents 

for the Sterling loan." CP 417 (Fact No. 18). Sterling therefore asked for a 

copy of the Operating Agreement governing Parkridge. !d. 

The Xus provided Sterling with a falsified limited liability company 

agreement and a false borrowing authorization certifying that they had the 

authority to sign the loan documents and encumber the Property. CP 41 7 

(Fact No. 19). It was, as Parkridge's attorney stated at trial, "a complete 

fraud upon Sterling." RP 13, ln. 7. 

D. Sterling Obtains a Letter from the Xus' Attorney Representing 
that the Xus Have the Authority to Enter into the Loan. 

Sterling's counsel noticed a discrepancy in Parkridge's documents. 

Sterling therefore requested copies of all documents documenting changes 

in Parkridge's membership. CP 422 (Fact No. 30). In response, the Xus 

provided it with a falsified document entitled "First Amendment to Limited 

Liability Company Agreement ofParkridge Property, L.L.C." CP 422 (Fact 

Nos. 38, 39). This First Amendment purported to show that the Xus had 
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transferred to Longwell their phony 1 00% interest in Parkridge, and stated 

that Longwell had taken over as Parkridge's managing member. !d. 

Sterling sought confirmation of the Xus' authority by asking for, and 

obtaining, an opinion letter from Parkridge's counsel (and the Xus' 

counsel), Wiess. CP 423 (Fact No. 40). Wiess drafted an opinion letter on 

Parkridge's behalf. CP 423 (Fact No. 42); EX 52; RP 3. In that letter, Wiess 

represented, among other things, that the "execution, delivery and 

performance by [Parkridgej of the Loan Documents have been duly 

authorized by all necessary action of [Parkridgej and do not and will not 

. . . violate any provision of the articles of organization or operating 

agreement of [Parkridgej." EX 52, p. FNTC000545. The opinion letter 

from Wiess also opined that, upon execution, the loan documents would 

provide Sterling with a "good, valid and perfected security interest in the 

collateral" upon the recording of the deed oftrust. EX 52, p. FNTC000546. 

However, as would later be alleged, Wiess, as the attorney who personally 

participated in the drafting of the true Limited Liability Company 

Agreement governing Parkridge, knew or should have known that the Xus 

had no ability to encumber the Property without CFD Funding 1 's express 

consent. CP 414 (Fact No.9). 

As the trial court found, "Sterling approved the Loan based upon the 

false information that Xu provided." CP 425 (Fact No. 50); CP 426 (Fact 
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No. 54: "Sterling would not make the Loan without verifying that its Deed 

of Trust had priority over any other claim against the Property."). 

E. The Xus Appropriate Parkridge's Loan Proceeds. 

Of the $18 million in Sterling's loan proceeds, $15,014,646.77 was 

used to pay off the GE Capital loan. CP 425 (Fact No. 81). GE Capital's 

interest in the Property was released. CP 425 (Fact No. 81 ). After deducting 

fees and closing costs, Sterling paid the Xus the remaining loan proceeds of 

$2,757,880.99. CP 425 (Fact No. 51). Sterling filed a deed of trust to secure 

the $18 million that it had advanced. CP 424-25 (Fact No. 49). 

F. Diesing Discovers the Xus' Fraud and Files Suit. 

In July 2011, CFD Funding 1, through Diesing, discovered the Xus' 

fraud. CP 430 (Fact No. 69). CFD Funding 1 sued the Xus and Longwell. 

CP 430 (Fact No. 69). In addition, CFD Funding 1, derivatively on behalf 

of Parkridge, sued the Xus, Longwell and Sterling. CP 430-31 (Fact 

Nos. 70, 71). CFD Funding 1 obtained an order appointing a receiver to 

liquidate the Property. In December 2011, CFD Funding 1 obtained 

summary judgment against the Xus/Longwell. CP 431 (Fact No. 74). 

G. The Property Is Sold by a Receiver for $17.85 Million. 

In June 2012, a court-appointed receiver obtained a buyer for the 

Property. CP 432 (Fact No. 78). The proposed sale price was 

$17.85 million. !d. Sterling, CFD Funding 1, and Parkridge all agreed that 
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a sale at that price was in the best interests of all parties. !d. 

The parties also agreed that Sterling had the right to approximately 

$15 million of the sale proceeds under the doctrine of equitable subrogation. 

CP 432-33 (Fact Nos. 79, 80); EX 68. 

With respect to the proceeds in excess of that amount, the attorneys 

for Sterling, CFD Funding 1 and Parkridge agreed that the receiver would 

pay those sums to Sterling, without prejudice to the right to assert claims 

and defenses regarding priority to proceeds in excess of the approximately 

$15 million used to pay off the GE loan. CP 432-33 (Fact No. 80). 

H. Wiess Settles for $1 Million. 

In April 2013, after the Property was sold, Wiess was added as an 

additional defendant for her role in drafting the opinion letter that falsely 

represented that the Xus had the authority to enter into the Sterling loan. 

CP 434 (Fact No. 85). Wiess paid Parkridge $1 million in March 2014 to 

resolve the claims Parkridge made against her. CP 434 (Fact No. 85). 

I. The Case Proceeds with Parkridge as the Sole Plaintiff. 

Having settled with Wiess, Parkridge's remaining claim was against 

Sterling. It alleged that it had been harmed by Sterling's loan and deed of 

trust, and sought recovery of approximately $3 million in monetary 

damages. CP 435 (Fact No. 89) ("Parkridge alleged in its Second Amended 

Complaint that '[a]s a direct and proximate result of Sterling's actions and 
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inactions, Parkridge suffered damages in the amount of at least 

$3 million."'). The trial court concluded that Parkridge had the ability to 

seek monetary damages under RCW 7.28.190 because the underlying 

property had been sold (rendering a quiet title judgment irrelevant): 

The Property was sold after Parkridge commenced this 
lawsuit but before trial commenced. RCW 7.28.190 
specifically provides that under these circumstances, a quiet 
title action continues after the sale of the subject property: 

If the right of the plaintiff to the possession of the 
property expire, after the commencement of the 
action and before trial, the verdict shall be given 
according to the fact, and judgment shall be given 
only for the damages. 

CP 437 (Conclusion No.6) (quoting RCW 7.28.190). See also RP 995-996, 

lns. 25-26. 

J. Damages, Plus Prejudgment Interest, Are Awarded to 
Parkridge. 

At trial, Parkridge argued that it sustained damages in the sum of 

$2,699,374.07, the difference between the net proceeds from the agreed sale 

of the Property ($17,714,020.84) and the amount paid to refinance the GE 

Capital loan ($15,014,646.77). RP 990, lns. 2-5; RP 996, lns. 17-18; 

RP 791, lns. 2-3. The trial court agreed. Because it was awarding damages, 

the trial court also awarded prejudgment interest on this sum. CP 449 

(Conclusion No. 52). 
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K. The Trial Court Refused to Offset Wiess' $1 Million Payment. 

Given that Parkridge was awarded all of its damages, plus 

prejudgment interest and $451,460.03 in attorneys' fees and costs, Sterling 

argued that it was entitled to an offset related to the $1 million payment 

made by Wiess to Parkridge. RP 1124-25. 

In its written Findings and Conclusions, the trial court refused to 

award an offset: 

Sterling did not show what part, if any, of Parkridge's 
settlement with Wiess was attributable to the claim it seeks 
to offset. Additionally, Parkridge incurred costs and 
attorney's fees in obtaining its settlement with Wiess. 
Sterling did not meet its burden of proving a double recovery 
and a set off is inappropriate. 

CP 451 (Conclusion No. 58). 

L. The Court of Appeals Affirms. 

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed. Like the trial court, it 

concluded that Sterling "did not meet its burden of showing it was entitled 

to an offset for the $1 million settlement with Wiess." Appendix A, p. 9. 

Specifically, it concluded that Sterling had failed to "show what portion of 

the settlement is attributed to the asserted [fraud] claims." Id., p. 10. It also 

concluded, with little analysis, that an offset was not proper because the 

action arose from a quiet title action, notwithstanding that damages and 

interest were awarded pursuant to RCW 7.28.190. !d., p. 9. 
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VI. ARGUMENTS FOR REVIEW 

A. Summary of Argument for Review. 

The burden of proof required to establish a right to an offset-and 

avoid a double recovery-is an issue of substantial public interest. 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court has long made clear that public policy is 

violated by a double recovery. Rekhter, 180 Wn.2d at 121 (" ... Washington 

courts have consistently implemented rules designed to prevent double 

recoveries."). Closely related to this policy is the critical question of exactly 

how the burden of proof should be allocated in establishing the existence of 

a double recovery. 

To be sure, the burden of proof is initially on the party who seeks an 

offset. But, if a party makes a prima facie case that a double recovery will 

occur, they should not be further required to prove the absence of a negative, 

i.e., that there are no other possible claims extinguished by the settlement 

that created the double recovery. If the record shows no other claims 

encompassed by the settlement, then an offset should be awarded to prevent 

a double recovery. 

B. Parkridge Obtained a Double Recovery. 

Parkridge received a windfall. The math is straightforward: 

Parkridge's Total Loss: $3,186,057.02, plus interest 

(1) Parkridge sustained a $2,699,374.07 loss as a result of the 
Xus' fraud upon Sterling. CP 449 (Conclusion No. 52). 
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(2) Parkridge expended $486,682.95 in fees and costs for its 
claims against Sterling and Wiess. CP 392; Appendix A to 
Appellant's Opening Brief (summary from CP 298-307). 

(3) Parkridge's total loss, including fees and costs, is therefore 
$3,186,057.02, plus interest. 

Parkridge's Total Recovery: $4,150,834.10, plus interest 

(1) Parkridge was awarded $2,699,374.07, plus interest against 
Sterling. CP 449 (Conclusion No. 52). 

(2) Parkridge was also awarded $451,460.03 in attorneys' fees 
and costs against Sterling. CP 392. 

(3) Parkridge recovered $1,000,000 from Wiess. CP 434 (Fact 
No. 85). 

(4) Parkridge's total recovery is therefore $4,150,834.10, plus 
interest. 

Parkridge's Windfall: $964,777.09 

(1) Parkridge's total loss, all inclusive, is $3,186,057.02, plus 
interest. 

(2) Parkridge's total recovery is $4,150,834.10, plus interest. 

(3) Parkridge's windfall is therefore $964,777.09. 

C. A Double Recovery Is Abhorrent to Washington Law. 

Washington abhors a double recovery: 

Clearly, there is a "public policy" against "double" 
recovery. To say this, however, is to say only that recovery 
should not exceed the applicable measure of damages .... 
"Double" recovery "violates public policy" because the 
applicable measure of damages is public policy with respect 
to how much a claimant should recover. 

Barney v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 73 Wn. App. 426, 428, 869 P.2d 1093 

(1994). See also Seafirst Ctr. P'ship v. Kargianis, 73 Wn. App. 471,476, 
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866 P.2d 60, 64 (1994) ("the law does not sanction a double recovery"). 

Washington Courts will apply--or even develop-rules to avoid a 

plaintiffs receipt of a double recovery: 

Although the parties cite no case law regarding this 
precise type of double recovery-judgment both for 
contractors that were not paid for providing services to 
clients and for the clients themselves-Washington courts 
have consistently implemented rules designed to prevent 
double recoveries. See Lange v. Town of Woodway, 79 
Wn.2d 45, 49,483 P.2d 116 (1971) (adopting the election of 
remedies doctrine for "the sole purpose of preventing double 
redress for a single wrong"); Rice v. Janovich, 109 Wn.2d 
48,61-62,742 P.2d 1230 (1987) (holding that the trial court 
erred by giving jury instructions for both assault and outrage 
for the same conduct because it allowed for the possibility of 
double recovery); Sherry v. Fin. Indem. Co., 160 Wn.2d 611, 
621-22, 160 P .3d 31 (2007) (discussing rules designed to 
prevent double recovery in the context of an underinsured 
motorist). 

Rekhter, 180 Wn.2d at 121 (emphasis added). 

In short, whenever possible, a court should apply an offset to avoid 

granting a double recovery: "It is a basic principle of damages, both tort 

and contract, that there shall be no double recovery for the same injury." 

Eagle Point Condo. Owners Ass 'n v. Coy, 102 Wn. App. 697, 702, 9 P.3d 

898, 902 (2000). 

D. The Court of Appeals Imposed an Improper Burden of Proof 
which Undermined Public Policy on Double Recoveries. 

1. Sterling Established a Prima Facie Case that the 
Malpractice Settlement was Related to the Xus' Fraud. 

Sterling set forth a prima facie case that the $1 million payment was 
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directly related to the false letter that Wiess drafted and provided to Chicago 

Title in order for the transaction to close. 

From its inception through its conclusion, the claim against Wiess 

always boiled down to the simple fact that Wiess knew, or should have 

known, that Longwell/Xu did not have the authority to refinance the GE 

Capital loan without the approval ofCFD Funding 1. CP 454-55; CP 468-

71. This was clear by the testimony ofParkridge's own witness. RP 718, 

Ins. 5-7 ("[W]e sued her because ... she issued this [letter] in connection 

with a fraudulent transaction."). That's it. As Parkridge itself described its 

claim against Wiess, this formed the sole basis for all the claims against her:

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