I. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY 

Respondent Parkridge Property, LLC ("Parkridge") files this An

swer to the Petitioner Sterling Savings Bank's ("Sterling") Petition for Re-

view. 

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Sterling seeks review of an unpublished decision filed on Septem

ber 28, 2015 by Division I of the Court of Appeals ("Decision"). 

Ill. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES RAISED BY THE PETITION AND 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW 

Sterling's Petition presents two issues: first, whether the Court of 

Appeals improperly concluded that Sterling had no right to the disputed 

sale proceeds because the decision arose out of an action to quiet title; 

and second, whether the Court of Appeals improperly required Sterling to 

prove that Parkridge's malpractice recovery was unrelated to claims oth

er than the fraud at issue in the lawsuit. 

Parkridge disagrees with Sterling's statement of issues. The Court 

of Appeals affirmed the trial court's judgment "[b]ecause the unchal

lenged findings establish Sterling Bank had no right to the $2.7 million 

and Sterling Bank did not meet its burden of proving it was entitled to an 
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offset[.]"1 Consistent with the Court of Appeals' actual decision, Parkridge 

provides the following counterstatement of issues: 

1. Parkridge did not obtain a double recovery "at Sterling's 

expense." The issue at trial was who had priority to the proceeds from 

the sale of Parkridge's property. The trial court determined that Sterling 

did not have a legal interest in the property and required it to return the 

money to Parkridge. Since Sterling did not suffer any damages, did the 

trial court and Court of Appeals properly determine that the doctrine of 

offset is inapplicable? 

2. Sterling claims the Court of Appeals abused its discretion 

by not allowing Sterling's claim for an offset. However, Sterling does not 

challenge the Court of Appeals' determination that "substantial evidence 

supports the conclusion that Sterling Bank did not meet its burden of 

showing that it was entitled to an offset for the $1 million settlement 

with Wiess." Did the Court of Appeals properly determine that the trial 

court denied Sterling's request for an offset on tenable grounds and for 

tenable reasons? 

As discussed below, Sterling's Petition does not meet any of the 

criteria in RAP 13.4(b) governing acceptance of review. The Petition does 

not challenge the Court of Appeal's conclusion that the doctrine of offset 

is inapplicable because Sterling did not have any damages to offset. Fur-

ther, the Petition ignores the substantial evidence supporting the conclu-

sion that Sterling did not meet its burden of showing entitlement to an 

1 
Decision, at 1. 
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offset. The Petition also fails to demonstrate that the Decision conflicts 

with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Finally, Sterling 

has not identified any issue of substantial public interest. 

IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF FACTS 

Stanley Xu and Nanling Chen {collectively "Xu") needed money for 

their real estate ventures. Without Parkridge's knowledge or permission, 

Xu applied for a loan with Sterling and submitted a "forged fraudulent 

and false" operating agreement that falsely identified him as Parkridge's 

only member and managing member. Xu represented to Sterling that he 

had the authority to enter into the loan on Parkridge's behalf.2 

Sterling was so eager to make the loan that it ignored its standard 

procedures. In determining Xu's authority to bind Parkridge, Sterling re

lied entirely upon Xu's statements and the documents he provided. Ster

ling did not attempt to verify Xu's claims with any third party. 

At Sterling's request, Xu had his attorney, Rebecca Wiess 

{"Wiess"), draft an opinion letter concerning his authority to act on 

Parkridge's behalf. Wiess' opinion letter stated that Parkridge had au

thorized Xu to execute Sterling's loan documents. However, none of Ster-

2 /d., at 3. 
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ling's agents or employees actually read Wiess' letter before the loan 

closed. Sterling did not rely on Wiess' letter in deciding to make the 

loan.3 

Ultimately, Sterling made an $18 million loan based entirely upon 

Xu's unconfirmed representations. After using $15 million to satisfy an 

existing deed of trust held by GE Capital, Sterling paid the remaining loan 

proceeds directly into Xu's personal bank account. As security for the 

loan, Xu signed an $18 million deed of trust ("Sterling DOT"} that Sterling 

recorded against Parkridge's property ("Property"). 

Parkridge eventually discovered the fraud and filed a quiet title 

action to quash Sterling's DOT. Parkridge alleged that it did not authorize 

Xu to enter into the loan or to execute the Sterling DOT. Parkridge as

serted that the Sterling DOT was void ab initio and did not convey to Ster

ling a security interest in the Property. Parkridge sought to have Sterling's 

DOT invalidated and title to the Property quieted against Sterling's claims 

for any amount above $15 million (the amount Sterling paid to GE Capi

tal).4 

3/d. 

4 Petition, at 9. See Findings of Fact ("FOF") #'s 80, 84 and Conclusions of Law ("COL") #'s 

12, 19. Parkridge agreed that, under the doctrine of equitable subrogation, Sterling was 
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Sterling denied Parkridge's allegations. Sterling claimed that Xu 

had the actual or apparent authority to sign the Sterling DOT. Alternative-

ly, Sterling asserted that it was a bona fide encumbrancer and held a valid 

lien against the Property for $18 million.5 

During the litigation, a third party offered to purchase the Proper

ty for $17.75 million. Sterling consented to the sale. The parties entered 

into CR 2A settlement agreement which provided that Sterling would re-

ceive $15 million from the sales proceeds as reimbursement for its pay-

ment to GE Capital. The parties further agreed that Sterling would hold 

the remaining proceeds (approximately $2.7 million) 11Without prejudice 

to either party's right to assert claims and defenses regarding priority to 

proceeds in excess of the approximately $15 million used to pay off the 

GE loan."6 

entitled to reimbursement for the $15 million it paid to satisfy GE Capital's deed of trust 

on the property. See Columbia Cmtv. Bank v. Newman Park, LLC., 177 Wn.2d 566, 570, 

304 P.3d 472 (2013) (holding that under the doctrine of equitable subrogation, a lender 

who repaid the borrower's previous loan is entitled to assume the position of the first 

priority lienholder). 

5 CP 125-57, 234-35. See RP 378. 

6 
See FOF #'s 80, 84 and COL #'s 12, 19. 
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In April 2013, the trial court granted Parkridge's motion to amend 

the complaint to add Wiess as an additional defendant. Parkridge alleged 

that Wiess breached her professional duty of care by: {1) failing to verify 

whether Parkridge had actually approved the Sterling loan; (2) failing to 

discover that Xu was falsely representing himself to be Parkridge's mem

ber and managing member; and (3) issuing an opinion letter incorrectly 

stating that Parkridge had authorized Xu to enter into the loan? 

Parkridge and Wiess settled their dispute in March 2014, with 

Wiess' insurer paying $1 million to Parkridge.8 Sterling did not participate 

in Parkridge's litigation against Wiess, nor did it reimburse Parkridge for 

the costs, attorney fees, and expert expenses Parkridge incurred in litigat

ing the claim against Wiess. 9 

Parkridge's action against Sterling proceeded to trial. The only is

sue at trial was the dispute concerning the remaining $2.7 million in sale 

proceeds. Sterling claimed that the Sterling DOT gave it priority to those 

funds. Sterling asserted the deed of trust was valid because Xu had the 

7 Decision, at 8-9, n.4; CP 468-71. 

8 
FOF # 85; RP 179-80. 

9 
FOF # 86. 
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actual or apparent authority to execute the loan documents. Sterling fur

ther argued that it reasonably relied on the representations of Xu and 

Wiess in agreeing to make the $18 million loan. In the alternative, Ster

ling argued it was entitled to enforce the deed of trust against Parkridge 

as a bona fide encumbrancer. 10 

The trial court rejected Sterling's claims, finding that Sterling act

ed unreasonably in failing to investigate Xu's claim of authority. The trial 

court determined that Sterling would have discovered Xu's fraud had it 

conducted a reasonable inquiry. The trial court held that, but for "Ster

ling's unreasonable blind reliance" on Xu's representations, the fraudu

lent loan never would have occurred. 11 

The trial court declared the Sterling DOT invalid and unenforcea

ble and held that Sterling was not a bona fide encumbrancer. The trial 

court ordered Sterling to return to Parkridge the $2.7 million of proceeds 

it was holding from the sale of the Property. 12 

Finally, the trial court denied Sterling's request to offset 

10 Decision, at 6. 

11 !d., at 7. 

12 !d. 
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Parkridge's settlement with Wiess against Sterling's "damages." The trial 

court concluded that in the absence of any evidence about the claims re-

solved in the settlement between Parkridge and Wiess, "Sterling did not 

show what part, if any, of Parkridge's settlement with Wiess was at-

tributable to the claim it seeks to offset."13 The trial court held that "Ster-

ling did not meet its burden of proving a double recovery and a set off is 

. . 1114 mappropnate. 

Sterling appealed the trial court's decision to Division I of the 

Court of Appeals. Sterling did not challenge the trial court's determina-

tion that the Sterling DOT was void and that the bank was not a bona fide 

encumbrancer. Sterling only challenged the trial court's conclusion that 

the bank did not present any evidence to show what part of the Wiess 

settlement was attributable to the claim it sought to offset and did not 

meet its burden of proving it was entitled to an offset.15 

The Court of Appeals denied Sterling's appeal, stating that "be-

cause the unchallenged findings support the conclusion that the deed of 

13 !d., at 8. 

14 !d. 

15 !d., at 9-10. Sterling did not assign error to any of the trial court's 80 findings of fact 

and only assigned error to COL# 58, which dealt with Sterling's offset claim. 
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trust is void and unenforceable, we conclude Sterling Bank had no right 

to the disputed sale proceeds." 16 The Court of Appeals also rejected the 

appeal because "substantial evidence supports the conclusion that Ster

ling Bank did not meet its burden of showing it was entitled to an offset 

for the $1 million settlement with Wiess."17 

V. WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW 

A. Parkridge did not obtain a double recovery "at Sterling's 

expense." Sterling did not have a legal interest in the 

Property and did not suffer "damages" when the trial 

court required it to return Parkridge's money. 

Sterling claims that Parkridge obtained a double recovery "at the 

expense of Sterling."18 In making this argument, Sterling represents that 

it suffered damages when the trial court ordered it to return the $2.7 mil

lion that belongs to Parkridge. However, Sterling concedes that it does 

not have a legal right to keep Parkridge's money. The doctrine of offset is 

inapplicable because Sterling does not have any damages to offset. 

16 ld., at 9. 

17 /d. 

18 ld., at 20. 

5628886.2 

-9-



Offset is an equitable remedy that ensures a plaintiff does not re

cover from two defendants for the same damage. 19 While Washington 

has an interest in avoiding double damages, "the party claiming an offset 

has the burden of proving this claim."2° Further, when a party seeks an 

offset against a judgment, he must show that he paid in the manner al-

leged, and that he "entitled to have the payment credited against the ob

ligation embodied in the judgment."21 Sterling cannot make this showing. 

Parkridge brought this lawsuit to have the Sterling DOT declared 

invalid and title quieted in its property. An action to quiet title is an equi-

table proceeding "designed to resolve competing claims" regarding a 

property.22 It allows a party in possession of real property to compel oth-

ers who assert a hostile right-such as a deed of trust upon the proper-

19 Scott's Excavating, 176 Wn. App. 335, 348-349, 308 P.3d 791 (2013) (citing Eagle Point 

Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Coy, 102 Wn. App. 697, 702, 9 P.3d 898 (2002)). 

20 Harmony at Madrona Park Owners Ass'n v. Madison Harmony Dev., Inc., 160 Wash. 

App. 728, 735, 253 P.3d 101, 105 (2011) (citing Maziarski v. Bair, 83 Wash.App. 835, 

841, 924 P.2d 409 (1996). 

21 Maziarski, 83 Wn. App. at 841. 

22 Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB, 176 Wn. App. 475, 502, 309 P.3d 636 (2013); Walker v. 

Quality Loan Serv. Corp. of Wash., 176 Wn. App. 294, 322, 308 P.3d 716 (2013). 
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ty-to submit that claim to judicial determination. 23 Without a quiet title 

action, Parkridge stood to lose $3 million in equity in the Property. 24 

Damages are not ordinarily allowed in a quiet title action, since it 

is a claim for equitable relief. 25 However, Parkridge sold the Property af-

ter it commenced this lawsuit but before trial. In that circumstance, RCW 

7.28.190 provides that "the verdict shall be given according to the fact, 

and judgment shall be given only for the damages." The trial court inter

preted this statute to mean that Parkridge was entitled to a determina

tion regarding the validity and enforceability of the Sterling DOT. 26 The 

trial court's determination of that issue would decide which party had 

priority to the proceeds from the Property's sale.27 

23 !d. See Kobza v. Tripp, 105 Wn. App. 90, 95, 18 P.3d 621 (2001) ("An action to quiet 

title allows a person in peaceable possession or claiming the right to possession of real 

property to compel others who assert a hostile right or claim to come forward and as

sert their right or claim and submit it to judicial determination."). 

24 FOF # 71. 

25 
Kobza, 105 Wn. App. at 95. 

26 COL# 6. See !d. ("Even if the claim asserted ... is absolutely invalid, the parties are still 

entitled to a decree saying so."). 

27 COL# 7. 
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During the litigation, the Property sold (with Sterling's consent) 

for $17.75 million. The parties agreed that Sterling would receive $15 mil-

lion from the sales proceeds as reimbursement for its payment to GE 

Capital. The parties further agreed that Sterling would hold the remaining 

net proceeds (approximately $2.7 million) "without prejudice to either 

party's right to assert claims and defenses regarding priority to proceeds 

in excess of the approximately $15 million used to pay off the GE loan."28 

Thus, the lawsuit essentially became an action to quiet title to personal 

property; namely, the remaining proceeds from the Property's sale. 29 

Parkridge owned the Property, which means it had the unrestrict

ed right to the Property's possession, use, and enjoyment.30 Parkridge's 

right of ownership also included the right to sell the Property and receive 

28 See FOF #'s 80, 84 and COL #'s 12, 19. 

29 See RCW 7.28.310, which authorizes a quiet title action to determine rights to per

sonal property; e.g., the proceeds from the Property's sale. 

30 Manufactured Housing Cmtys. v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 364, 13 P.3d 183 {2000). See 

Vaughn v. Montague, 924 F. Supp. 2d 1256, 1265 {W.O. Wash. 2013) ("Absolute owner

ship" includes '1the right to hold, possess, and enjoy to the exclusion of any other indi

vidual in the universe.") (quoting Ackerman v. Port of Seattle, 55 Wn.2d 400, 409, 348 

P.2d 664 (1960)). 

-12-

5628886.2 



the proceeds of sale.31 However, Sterling claimed priority to those funds 

under the Sterling DOT or as a bona fide encumbrancer. The trial court 

stated that the $2.7 million in remaining proceeds represented the 

"damages" at issue in the trial: 

The net proceeds from the sale of the Property totaled 

$17,714,020.84. Sterling paid GE Capital $15,014,646.77. The 

$2,699,374.07 difference between these two amounts represents 

Parkridge's damages.32 

The trial court determined that Sterling's DOT was invalid and un-

enforceable and that Sterling was not a bona fide encumbrancer.33 The 

trial court held that Sterling was entitled to an equitable lien on the 

Property for the $15,014,646.77 it paid to GE Capital, but that the re-

maining funds belonged to Parkridge: 

The bank here, Sterling-and this is not disputed-has a right to 

be made whole with respect to the underlying loan that it paid 

31 See Johnson v. Johnson, 32 Wn. App. 147, 149, 646 P.2d 142 (1982) n1Jt it is under

stood that implicit in ownership of an asset is the probability that it will eventually be 

sold; the right to sell an asset is incident to the right of ownership. 31 (citing In re Seattle, 

81 Wn.2d 652, 656,504 P.2d 292 (1972) and Ackerman, 55 Wn.2d at 409). 

32 COL# 52. 

33 COL #'s 20, 42, 47. 
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off. But the proceeds, the excess amount that rightfully belongs to 

the owner of the apartment building, which is Parkridge, the 

L.L.C., is properly awarded to the plaintiff.34 

The trial court concluded that Parkridge had priority to the $2.7 

million remaining from the Property's sale and would receive those funds 

as "damages."35 

Parkridge did not obtain a double recovery at Sterling's expense. 

Sterling did not pay any money to Parkridge when it originally made the 

loan: after satisfying the GE deed of trust, Sterling paid $2.75 million di-

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